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1

March 12, 2012

2

Vancouver, BC.

3

(PROCEEDINGS RECONVENED AT 9:46 A.M.)

4 THE REGISTRAR:

Order.

5 THE COMMISSIONER:

This hearing is now resumed.

Good morning.

Since the somewhat surprise

6

announcement by Ms. Gervais last week I have

7

spent a great deal of time reflecting.

8

withdrawal from these proceedings caused great

9

concern.

Her

I heard what Grand Chief Ed John stated

10

for the record and I take his words seriously.

11

No one would disagree that this process needs, in

12

fact demands, representation of the families of

13

25 missing and murdered women, many of whom are

14

aboriginal, the aboriginal community, the

15

communities of the Downtown Eastside and the

16

extremely vulnerable women that continue to be

17

victimized today.

18

community is being respected and heard, it is

19

clear that that is not an opinion that is shared

20

by all.

21

this area.

22

process where we can all work together, if not in

23

perfect harmony, then at least in a manner that

24

allows for mutual respect.

25

one important goal.

While I believe that each

This means we all have work to do in
I hope we can find a place in this

1

I believe we share

We want this commission to
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1

produce a report that makes a difference to the

2

lives of vulnerable women at extreme risk.

3

my sincere hope that each person in each

4

community involved will feel respected and heard

5

throughout this commission's process.

6

be clear on this.

7

fully committed to an inclusive process.

8
9

It is

I want to

We are and always have been

With the events of last week weighing last
heavily on my mind, I have directed commission to

10

immediately undertake the important and urgent

11

task of identifying an experienced and respected

12

legal professional for the role of independent

13

counsel presenting the issues related to

14

aboriginal interests.

15

soon as possible.

16

I feel it is necessary for me to direct the

17

commission to stand down for a short period until

18

this person is appointed and has time to become

19

familiar with this inquiry.

20

proceed without new counsel being familiar with

21

our mandate and with the evidence thus far

22

called.

23

made two separate trips to the north, and in

24

particular to the aboriginal communities along

25

Highway 16, and listened to many members of those

This needs to be done as

To facilitate this appointment

I do not want to

That would not be right.

2

While we have
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1

communities about their concerns and their

2

complaints, we need an experienced lawyer here

3

now.

4

justice system in general and the police in

5

particular and the aboriginal communities needs a

6

critical examination and we need to do it during

7

the process of this inquiry.

The relationship between the criminal

8

Additionally, the families of the victims as

9

represented by Mr. Ward play an important role in

10

this process.

11

requested documents that he believes are critical

12

for his examination of upcoming witnesses and

13

that late production of these documents would

14

affect his ability to properly question the

15

witnesses.

16

adjournment time will allow him to properly

17

consider the disclosure he has requested.

18

I understand Mr. Ward has

It is my hope that during this brief

We want to give the lawyer that I have asked

19

for adequate time to become familiar with this

20

inquiry but we cannot hold the process up for an

21

extended period.

22

stand down until April 2nd, 2012.

23

completes his examination of the District 2 panel

24

today we will stand down so that Mr. Ward and

25

other counsel can consider the new disclosure and

I would like this commission to

3

After Mr. Ward
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1

new counsel can be identified, appointed and

2

become familiar with the file.

3

panel needs to return for either Mr. Ward or

4

other counsel to ask questions relating to the

5

new disclosure or if required by newly appointed

6

counsel, I would respectfully ask that the panel

7

make themselves available for that purpose.

8
9

If the District 2

When we return on the week of April 2nd I
understand we will proceed with the Native

10

Liaison Society panel.

I understand that Freda

11

Ens and Morris Bates have been interviewed and

12

are ready to testify and we are ready to move

13

forward with their participation in this panel.

14

Commission counsel will make arrangements to

15

have evidence presented on the week of April 9th.

16

I understand that Mr. Ward's clients, the

17

families of 25 missing and murdered women, are

18

confirmed for participation during the week of

19

April 16th.

20

when we return on April 2nd.

21

We will be proceeding on this basis

I thank each of you for your continued

22

commitment to participate in the process.

23

crucial that we have counsel in place to present

24

the issues related to aboriginal interests for

25

these panels and I am confident that we will.

4

It is

I
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1

am aware that there are many issues that the

2

aboriginal community would like to address

3

through this commission.

4

acknowledge this.

5

concern have been identified by the aboriginal

6

communities and by others.

7

commission has a specific mandate that we are

8

bound by and at its core this is an inquiry about

9

policing.

I want to respectfully

Many important areas of

However, this

In closing, I want to say that I

10

strongly believe all of the voices of our

11

community are not only important to this process

12

but they are critical.

13

process should be judged, examined and criticized

14

on a daily basis.

15

system that demands great results from this

16

commission and that you hold us to a high

17

standard.

18

ourselves to that same standard.

19

I also believe that this

I respect and appreciate a

I want you to know that we hold

At the end of this process we need to

20

critically examine what happened and to make

21

recommendations so that the mistakes of the past,

22

if any, not be repeated and that we make our

23

community safer for vulnerable women.

24

bears repeating that our task is extremely

25

important for we are examining circumstances

5

It also
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1

relating to the most horrific crimes in Canadian

2

history.

3

something that any of us takes lightly.

4

here because we want to help make a difference.

5

We are here because the lives that were lost

6

matter and because through this process and the

7

final recommendations we can save lives in the

8

future.

9

come in with the belief that each one of us can

10

What we do here each day is not

When I walk into this room every day I

and is making a difference.

11

We are

Thank you.

Mr. Vertlieb, what has been done with

12

respect to securing additional counsel that I

13

made reference to?

14 MR. VERTLIEB:

Mr. Commissioner, we've identified a well-

15

respected and experienced lawyer who would be

16

able to meet the mandate that you have just now

17

outlined and we're in the process of making

18

arrangements and as soon as those arrangements

19

are made we'll have that lawyer meet with you and

20

hopefully it can be finalized.

21

it actively in accordance with what you have

22

outlined as being important.

23 THE COMMISSIONER:
24
25 MR. VERTLIEB:

We're working on

So the lawyer that you have contacted is on

board and will be appearing on the inquiry?
We're in the process of making those

6
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1

arrangements.

2

from you so we would need to have that

3

professional meet with you and make sure that

4

you're comfortable with the person that is

5

selected, but we're working on it actively and we

6

will be moving forward as quickly as we can.

7

We're confident we will have an experienced and

8

well-respected professional in place to meet your

9

mandate.

10 THE COMMISSIONER:
11
12 MR. WARD:

Obviously the appointment comes

Thank you.

We will proceed with the

cross-examination, Mr. Ward.
Just before I do proceed, Mr. Commissioner -- it's

13

Cameron Ward, counsel for the families of 25

14

murdered women -- I just want to ensure that the

15

record is clear as to what it is I have been

16

seeking and don't yet have that I consider

17

integral to my cross-examination of this panel of

18

VPD witnesses and the next one.

19

today that there would be eight VPD witnesses

20

here, six of whom would be classed as managers,

21

that is, being the rank of inspector or higher,

22

and there are two classes of documents that I've

23

been requesting from counsel and haven't yet

24

received.

25

you made for the production of Detective

I was expecting

The first is in respect of the order

7
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1

Constable Shenher's book.

2

received that --

3 THE COMMISSIONER:

I still haven't

I didn't want to interrupt you -- I will

4

interrupt you if you'll excuse me for doing it.

5

I want to make that order but before I make that

6

order I wanted Mr. Crossin to have the

7

opportunity to talk about -- to address the

8

issues of privacy.

9

some time ago, it's a lengthy one, and it was a

10

somewhat lengthy process, but we've never had a

11

day here when you and Mr. Crossin have been here

12

at the same time.

13

order but I need to hear from Mr. Crossin.

14 MR. WARD:

I read that document quite

I'm quite prepared to make the

That's a misunderstanding on my part then, because

15

I thought the order was made last week that the

16

document be produced with such vettings as Mr.

17

Crossin deemed appropriate given his so-called

18

privacy concern.

19

raised the issue of privacy of the content some

20

weeks ago.

21

my respectful submission there's absolutely no

22

excuse for me not having it vetted for privacy

23

concerns now, and the reason I'm so concerned

24

about it with respect to this panel and the next

25

one is that I gather from your comments that the

I point out, if I may, that he

He's familiar with the document.

8

In
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1

book contains Shenher's assessment of steps

2

management did or didn't take and my hands are

3

tied behind my back without her written statement

4

as to her management's conduct at the critical

5

time.

6 THE COMMISSIONER:

I have your argument on that, Mr. Ward.

7

The fact is, Mr. Crossin is not here and in

8

fairness I'm not going to make an order with one

9

counsel being away.

Earlier Mr. Crossin was here

10

and you were away so it works both ways.

11

event, you're quite right, I have said that you

12

will have access to that document but there's

13

those parts in the document in the manuscript

14

that deal with her private thoughts and I want

15

Mr. Crossin to have an opportunity on behalf of

16

Detective Shenher to make submissions on that and

17

I will make the order accordingly.

18 MR. VERTLIEB:

In any

Mr. Vertlieb.

Yes, Mr. Crossin is trying to do that as

19

quickly as he can and I understand Mr. Ward's

20

concerns, it's totally understandable, and you've

21

said if Mr. Ward wants the panel brought back

22

because of new disclosure he would be able do

23

that.

24

it's really important to get it done as soon as

25

possible.

I've spoken with Mr. Crossin and told him

9
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1 THE COMMISSIONER:
2

I thought he would be here today.

In any

event -- can you get him here?

3 MR. VERTLIEB:
4

We can certainly attempt to reach him.

I just

don't know where --

5 THE COMMISSIONER:
6 MR. VERTLIEB:

I understand, I understand.

7 THE COMMISSIONER:
8

Mr. Ward's comments are well taken.

He's been waiting for it and I've been

waiting to make the order.

9 MR. VERTLIEB:

There's one other issue Mr. Ward raised that

10

we're working on and that's all of the minutes of

11

the management meetings and we expect to have

12

those very soon.

13

That's another concern Mr. Ward has and we

14

understand and we're going to have that very

15

soon.

16 MR. WARD:

Indeed.

I know VPD is working on that.

The reason I was concerned about these two

17

types of documents is because we are currently --

18

of course I wasn't aware we would be standing

19

down but I anticipated we were currently dealing

20

with managers of the VPD and we learned from

21

former Chief Blythe that management met every

22

Wednesday and minutes were produced at those

23

meetings so I immediately considered they would

24

be relevant to the issues we were investigating

25

here.

10
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1 THE COMMISSIONER:

Mr. Vertlieb has already said that the

2

witnesses will be brought back for your

3

cross-examination if need be.

4 MR. WARD:

Thank you.

I'm grateful for that.

I will proceed

5

if I may and attempt to cross-examination this

6

panel.

7 MR. WOODALL:

Mr. Commissioner, Kevin Woodall.

On the issue

8

of the disclosure of the book, I've been

9

following the e-mail interchanges among counsel

10

but haven't stuck my oar in.

11

Mr. Ward was making application on behalf of all

12

participants and so I would like to see a copy of

13

that as well.

14 THE COMMISSIONER:

I understood that

I see no reason why only Mr. Ward would

15

have access to the document.

16

implicit that other counsel have the same right.

17 MR. WOODALL:

I thought it was

And I may have some submissions on the uses to

18

which it should be put when I see it.

19

seen it obviously, but one can imagine it may

20

have, for example, her private opinions and those

21

may or may not be of use to you and there may be

22

other things in there that may or may not be of

23

use to you and it is possible that it will open

24

or re-open issues and those are considerations

25

you may wish to take into account in determining

11

I haven't

D. Dickson (for the Commission)
Cross-exam by Mr. Ward

1

the use of the document.

2 THE COMMISSIONER:

Thank you, Mr. Woodall.

3

DAVE DICKSON:

Resumed

4 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARD:
5

Q

6

Thank you.

Let me start again.

Cameron Ward,

counsel for 25 murdered women.

7

I have a series of questions for Mr. Dickson

8

and I'd like to start by showing him a document.

9

Sir, I'm showing you a photocopy of what I

10

perceive to be a blog entry written by someone

11

identified as Dave Dickson, retired member of the

12

Vancouver Police Department who worked the

13

Downtown Eastside for 28 years.

14

is entitled:

15

Missing Women Inquiry.

Dave Dickson Speaks Out About the

16

A

I do.

17

Q

Did you write this?

18

A

No, I didn't.

19

The blog entry

Do you see that?

I wouldn't know how to blog if

somebody showed me.

20

Q

Are these words yours?

21

A

I think some of them are, but I don't have a

22

blog.

23

done with somebody that somebody has taken and

24

put on the blog.

25

Q

I think this was an interview I might have

Are these statements you have made to somebody

12

D. Dickson (for the Commission)
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1

that have been reduced to writing in blog form?

2

I note that your name appears below the two

3

paragraphs.

4

A

5

Yes, it does.

Let me read it and I'll let you

know.

6

Q

Take your time.

7

A

Some of the words are mine but I don't put stuff

8

on computers.

9

interview but I remember saying this.

10

Q

11

Thank you.

I can't remember who did the

I'd like to draw your attention to

the last two sentences above your name.

12

"The sad reality is nothing has changed in

13

the Downtown Eastside.

14

abused on a daily basis and the priorities

15

of the Vancouver Police Department leaders

16

is questionable to say the least."

17

The women are still

Do you see that?

18

A

I do.

19

Q

This was published in July 2011, less than a year

20

ago; correct?

21

A

Yes.

22

Q

Tell me please, tell us please, how it is that

23

the priorities of the Vancouver Police Department

24

leaders are questionable to say the least in

25

respect of the abuses that women are suffering on

13

D. Dickson (for the Commission)
Cross-exam by Mr. Ward

1
2

the Downtown Eastside?
A

Being out there on a daily basis I have

3

opportunities to speak to many of the women and I

4

hear daily complaints about their treatment from

5

some of the officers, and there are many

6

excellent police officers out there.

7

that the leadership is a bit questionable because

8

there's -- three years ago when I left I put some

9

information in about some women being hurt or

But I think

10

tortured and it was just when I left the police

11

department.

12

detectives in the Homicide Division, to the point

13

where it went down the toilet.

14

assistance to get the women in to be interviewed

15

properly and I asked for the assistance of a

16

female officer to do that and I was turned down

17

and the investigation was concluded and went

18

nowhere, but I voiced my concerns and reminded

19

the officers about the missing women's

20

investigation and had they learned nothing from

21

that.

22

the word -- my access to the building was cut off

23

the following day by the senior detectives and

24

they were under the command of Deputy Chief Doug

25

LePard.

It was handled very poorly by senior

I offered my

I was basically -- I'm trying to look for

There are senior people on the job that

14

D. Dickson (for the Commission)
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1

still do not know how to treat the women.

2 THE COMMISSIONER:

Excuse me for interrupting you, Mr. Ward, I

3

hesitate to do it.

4

there has been a tremendous change, at least the

5

present management has told us there has been a

6

change in policing methods and changes in the way

7

women are a being treated in the Downtown

8

Eastside.

9

A

We have heard evidence that

Are you saying there's been no change?

I don't see it and when this happened Deputy

10

Chief Doug LePard -- in fact I think I made a

11

statement a while back when this happened about

12

the leadership and Deputy Chief Doug LePard

13

called me and I invited him for a walk-around so

14

he could talk to the women himself.

15 THE COMMISSIONER:

You've been down there more than anyone

16

else.

17

mandate.

18

happened and why we're here, how do we change

19

that?

20

A

How do we change that?

That's part of our

If there are things that led to what

I think you have to have more officers down there

21

that are committed to working with the women.

22

There are many, many women -- in fact, I compiled

23

a short list of 52 women in the last couple of

24

months that would testify to the fact that if

25

they went missing nobody would report them, and

15

D. Dickson (for the Commission)
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1

my position when I left was sex trade liaison and

2

somebody replaced me and these 52 women had no

3

idea there was even this position in the

4

Vancouver Police Department.

5

trade liaison's fault, she's a terrific police

6

officer, but the officers on the street down

7

there have to be handing out their own cards, her

8

cards and that's not being done.

9

still a very big problem with the women down

10

So there's

there.

11 THE COMMISSIONER:
12
13

That's not the sex

Are there beat officers walking the streets

down there?
A

Not often enough.

I'm out there pretty much

14

every morning from 5:00 in the morning on and I

15

don't see hardly anybody out there.

16

they're very busy but I don't see them out there.

17 THE COMMISSIONER:
18 MR. WARD:
19

I'm sure

I'm sorry, Mr. Ward.

Thank you.
Q

Just picking up on those questions, you still

20

work in the Downtown Eastside of Vancouver;

21

correct?

22

A

I do.

23

Q

You seem to be saying that the conditions in the

24

Downtown Eastside right now and the manner in

25

which the Vancouver Police Department is policing

16

D. Dickson (for the Commission)
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1

the Downtown Eastside make it entirely possibly

2

for another predator like Willie Pickton to take

3

women from the Downtown Eastside and murder them

4

one after another.

5

effectively?

6

A

7
8

Isn't that what you're saying

This could happen again in a second
unfortunately.

Q

9

And three years ago when you brought your
concerns to the attention of Doug LePard, that's

10

2009, isn't it, roughly, 2008, 2009, somewhere in

11

there?

12

A

13
14

Yes, that's right.

I left in I think the summer

of 2008 so it was shortly after that.
Q

And you said that you had learned that numbers of

15

women in the same class as the women who were

16

murdered by Pickton were being tortured by one or

17

more people; is that correct?

18

A

That's correct.

19

Q

And you brought those concerns forward to LePard?

20

A

Originally when I put the report in I was called

21

in by one of the senior detectives in the

22

Homicide Quad.

23

was called at that time.

The Major Crime Squad I think it

24

Q

Who was that?

25

A

Detective -- I'm not sure if he's a sergeant or

17

D. Dickson (for the Commission)
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1
2

detective -- Lawrence Rankin.
Q

3

So you explained what you had learned about the
women being tortured?

4

A

I did.

5

Q

And what happened?

6

A

I advised them that the women had been around a

7

long time, they were very -- not what I would

8

call pro-police, and I would assist him if I had

9

to in getting the women in to be interviewed.

10

advised me that I was a civilian now and they

11

didn't want me involved.

12

them handle it and basically watched it go down

13

the dumper.

14

they wouldn't talk to them.

15

gave them a phoney statement just to get them out

16

of the house.

17

Surrey.

18

Q

He

So I sat back and let

The women were treated so poorly
In fact, one victim

She was in a recovery house in

So you learned from the women themselves how they

19

had been treated by the Vancouver Police

20

Department investigators who were ostensibly

21

looking into their claims of torture and abuse?

22

A

Yes.

23

Q

What you learned from them was the Vancouver

24

Police Department police officers themselves were

25

conducting the interviews in a way that further

18

D. Dickson (for the Commission)
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1
2

abused the women; is that fair?
A

That's fair.

The one victim was in a recovery

3

house in Surrey and instead of going out there

4

themselves and setting up an interview, they had

5

a French-speaking RCMP member attend there at ten

6

o'clock at night when she was in bed, so it did

7

not go well.

8

Q

9

I inferred, perhaps incorrectly, from your
initial answer to my opening question that some

10

of the abuse that the women experienced, some of

11

the physical abuse that the women experienced in

12

recent years has come at the hands of Vancouver

13

Police Department members; is that correct?

14

A

I'm not sure about physical abuse.

I think there

15

was one member that was charged and was kicked

16

off the job for that.

17

Q

Did I infer from your answer that some sorts of

18

abuse were being perpetrated on the women by

19

police officers?

20

A

There was a small number of officers that would

21

take advantage of some of the women for sexual

22

purposes, not a lot, but I said before I think

23

one is too many as far as I was concerned.

24
25

Q

Approximately how many in your experience would
do that?

19
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1

A

Maybe a handful.

2

Q

Five, six, something like that?

3

A

Yes.

4

Q

Working on the Downtown Eastside?

5

A

Yes.

And it's not -- it's not so much the

6

numbers because I think every department has the

7

same issue with certain officers, they have taken

8

advantage, but I think for me the sore spot was

9

always how the department handled these officers

10

when they found out and Vancouver didn't handle

11

it very well in my opinion.

12

Q

What did they do?

13

A

There was one particular incident where I

14

discovered an officer, for lack of a better term,

15

preying on women, taking advantage of them and

16

these women were all -- there was four what I

17

would deem as vulnerable -- and he was getting

18

favours from them.

19

inspector and had him removed from the area.

20

was called up to the Internal Section a week

21

later and the inspector there had a copy of my

22

report.

23

what would the difference be with him going

24

across -- at this time we were at 312 Main street

25

-- what would the difference be with him going

When I found out I went to my
I

The inspector asked me a question saying

20
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1

across the street to the courthouse and having an

2

affair?

3

bit taken aback and I said, you're not serious,

4

are you?

5

you're talking about an officer that took

6

advantage of four women with the uniform and I

7

don't think you can compare that at all, and he

8

stated he couldn't see any difference.

9

I said I've had enough and I walked out.

This is indicated in my report.

And he said dead serious.

I was a

I said

I believe

10

Q

Who was that inspector?

11

A

I think it was Inspector Grandia at the time.

12

Q

You're describing criminal behaviour, aren't you?

13

A police officer using the uniform to force

14

sexual favours from women who are vulnerable?

15

A

I think it depends on who you talk to.

I think

16

the word "consensual" is used and all of these

17

meetings were apparently consensual.

18

Q

So I take it that you used your best efforts to

19

bring your concerns about the way members of the

20

Vancouver Police Department were abusing

21

vulnerable women, investigating their claims and

22

when you took your concerns to the management

23

level they were ignored.

Is that a fair summary?

24

A

That's a fair summary.

25

Q

From your perspective on the street over the last

21

D. Dickson (for the Commission)
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1

30 plus years, conditions today in the Downtown

2

Eastside insofar as the lives of vulnerable,

3

aboriginal, drug-addicted survival street sex

4

trade workers are concerned, conditions are no

5

better than they were between 1997 and 2002 when

6

all of the dozens of women we're concerned about

7

in this inquiry went missing; correct?

8

A

9

Correct.

I probably asked in the neighbourhood

of 50 to 100 of the women in the last few months

10

about that specific question and the answer was

11

virtually the same from every one of them -- it's

12

worse now than it was then.

13

Q

It's worse now than it was then?

14

A

Yes.

15

Q

So another way to put it is that now it's -- now

16

conditions are such that another Pickton, another

17

predator, could more easily get away with taking

18

women and killing them; fair?

19

A

I don't think that's fair.

It's probably as easy

20

as it was back then to do that but now the women

21

unfortunately are subjected to a lot violence

22

from the different dealers down.

23

different groups, Mr. Commissioner, vying for the

24

money down there that the girls are being beaten

25

on a daily or weekly basis for 30 or 40 dollar

22

There's so many

D. Dickson (for the Commission)
Cross-exam by Mr. Ward

1

drug debts or worse.

2

sexually assaulted, any number of things, having

3

their hair chopped off, and this is for as little

4

as $30.

5

Q

Some of them are being

Sir, in terms of the priorities you referred to

6

in this statement that I've shown you, I'd like

7

your comment on the following comparative summary

8

of facts.

9

period under review, 1997 and 2002, dozens,

We had on the one hand back in the

10

perhaps as many as 49 women, from the Downtown

11

Eastside disappear, leaving their hotel rooms or

12

places of residence, leaving their welfare

13

cheques undelivered, families, friends reporting

14

their disappearances, in many cases very

15

promptly, and little investigative action taken

16

by the Vancouver Police Department.

17

hand, we had a case, and I questioned Deputy

18

LePard about it, where Graham McMinn was bundled

19

into a car, a young west side Vancouver resident,

20

and hundreds of police officers were mobilized

21

and worked around the clock to ultimately solve

22

his disappearance.

23

these circumstances from your work, I'm sure.

24

Can you comment on the priorities that the

25

Vancouver Police Department appeared to give on

23

On the other

You're familiar with both
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1

the one hand, the vulnerable women on the

2

Downtown Eastside, and on the other, well-to-do

3

people from Vancouver's west side, in terms of

4

reports of people going missing?

5

on the question of priorities please from your

6

perspective?

7

A

Can you comment

I think the difference is, and I've done many

8

talks about this, with the women that went

9

missing from the Downtown Eastside, the

10

difficulty was a lot of them went missing and

11

nobody noticed.

12

the families tried to report them missing and I'd

13

like to know the number if anyone has one of how

14

many families.

15

report their daughters or loved ones missing, I

16

know that.

17

nobody really noticed that they were gone.

18

original poster we had with the 31 women on it,

19

if you look at the date last seen and date

20

reported, sometimes it's two or three years in

21

between the two dates.

22

an investigation like the McMinn one where you

23

had a crime scene, you had on-the-spot almost

24

reporting to the police and a lot of evidence

25

available, and you just didn't have that with the

I'm not sure -- I keep hearing

A lot of family members did not

That's the difficulty in this case,

24

The

It's not fair to compare

D. Dickson (for the Commission)
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1
2

missing women.
Q

What you had in the case of the missing women I

3

suggest was the intake worker, the first person

4

the families spoke to, a woman named Sandy

5

Cameron who conducted herself in such a way that

6

the families were turned away, were discouraged

7

from attempting to make their reports.

8

that your understanding?

9

A

10

Yes, it is.

Isn't

Do we have a number of how many

families?

11

Q

I can --

12

A

I'm just curious.

13

Q

I can go to specifics if there's time.

You

14

understand that Ms. Cameron herself drew a

15

distinction between reports of missing persons

16

emanating from the Downtown Eastside, especially

17

aboriginal disappearances, and reports of missing

18

persons from Vancouver's wealthier areas like the

19

west side, didn't you?

20

A

I realize her phone skills were not that great.

21

I can't speak to the -- how she took reports from

22

different areas.

23

Q

24
25

Can you speak to why she was allowed to keep her
job?

A

I can't.

I'm not sure why.

25

D. Dickson (for the Commission)
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1 MR. WARD:

How about you, Mr. Greer, why did she keep her job?

2 MR. GREER:

Mr. Commissioner, we work in a unionized

3

environment.

4

union and was subject to due process for

5

discipline and for workplace issues and you'd

6

have to look at those human resource procedures

7

to determine why she was left as long as in that

8

position.

9 MR. WARD:

Ms. Cameron was a member of the

What was the nature of her relationship with

10

Inspector Bob Law?

11 MR. GREER:
12 MR. WARD:

I have no idea.
How about you, Mr. Beach?

13 MR. BEACH:

I have no idea.

14

DAVE DICKSON:

Resumed

15 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARD:
16

Q

Mr. Dickson, you said in this statement I've

17

shown you:

"I have more inside information than

18

anyone out there and am more than willing to

19

share it and my time for the public."

Right?

20

A

Yes.

21

Q

That remains your position today?

22

A

I believe so.

23

Q

When you refer to "inside information" what are

24
25

you speaking of?
A

Just the women themselves, having a relationship

26
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1

with them, knowing a lot of them for a number of

2

years and being involved in the original report

3

that I submitted, being involved in the review

4

team, I think I have a bit more information than

5

probably anybody out there.

6

Q

Let me pursue that with you for a moment.

You

7

spoke last week in your testimony about some of

8

the women that you had interviewed or spoken with

9

who had been to Pickton's farm and returned

10

safely; do you recall giving that evidence?

11

A

Yes, that's correct.

12

Q

And as I recall it, you referred to a woman who

13

got over $1,000 for a weekend.

14

right?

Did I get that

15

A

I don't recall that, Mr. Commissioner.

16

Q

About how many women did you speak to who had

17

been to the Pickton premises in Port Coquitlam?

18

A

That returned?

19

Q

And returned.

20

A

Probably a dozen.

21

Q

What was happening out there according to them?

22

A

One girl very hotly denied it because she was I

23

think a family friend of the Picktons, her mother

24

knew him.

25

Another girl talked about, you know, girls being

She was quite upset with myself.
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1

tortured.

2

Q

By whom?

3

A

By Mr. Pickton, and this is all after he was

4

arrested of course, a lot of girls came forward

5

and admitted they were out there many times.

6

Q

7
8

What about the parties, what was happening there
according to them?

A

9

One of the girls described the parties as quite,
I guess, bizarre.

The people that attended them

10

were a real assortment of sex trade workers,

11

bikers.

12

around the room and see people having sex in

13

Piggy's Palace, the old barn.

She said it was very common to look

14

Q

What about drug use out there?

15

A

Lots of drug use.

16

Q

Where did the women say the drugs were coming

17
18

from?
A

19
20

They didn't say.

They just said there was very

much around.
Q

The women reported to you after Pickton was

21

arrested when recounting their experiences that

22

there were these wild parties at Piggy's Palace

23

involving bikers, other sex trade workers, at

24

which illegal drugs flowed freely; fair?

25

A

Fair.
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1

Q

In terms of inside information that is referred

2

to in your statement, can you tell us since

3

you're here to tell us the truth, the role that

4

bikers, and in particular, members of the Hell's

5

Angels motorcycle club, played in the lives of

6

these women from the Downtown Eastside who were

7

drug addicted, working in the survival sex trade,

8

both here in Vancouver and there in Port

9

Coquitlam, can you describe that?

10

A

I think their only involvement with Coquitlam was

11

renting Piggy's Palace for parties, that's my

12

information, as many people apparently rented it

13

for parties.

14

Q

And the Downtown Eastside?

15

A

I don't think they have a lot of involvement with

16

the women down here if that's what you're asking,

17

other than controlling part of the drug scene.

18

Q

19
20

And also some of the SROs the women lived in;
right?

A

I'm not really aware of any SROs they had control

21

over.

There was rumours about some of them.

22

There was always the rumour about the Hazelwood

23

Hotel being owned by police.

24

that rumour so it sounded good and kept people

25

out of his hotels.
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1

Q

Sir, I want to ask you about your dealings with

2

the woman we call Anderson, the victim of

3

Pickton's March 1997 attack.

4

recall your evidence that you first met her when

5

she was about 15 and on the streets of downtown

6

Vancouver and you'd spoken to her many, many

7

times since?

You testified as I

8

A

Yes.

9

Q

So you first met her in the early 1980s; is that

10

right?

11

A

That's right.

12

Q

Did you come to know her pretty well prior to the

13

March 1997 attack?

14

A

I did.

15

Q

When did you first speak with her after that

16

attack, how long after?

17

A

Probably within a year after it happened.

18

Q

So probably by March of 1998 you spoke with her

19

about what had happened at Pickton's property?

20

A

I believe so, yes.

21

Q

And she described that attack to you?

22

A

She did.

23

Q

And based on your dealings with her over the

24

years to that point and including that

25

discussion, she seemed to you, using your skills
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1

and experience as a police officer, as a credible

2

person; correct?

3

A

Yes.

4

Q

And you must have when you had this discussion

5

with her about the attack being concerned for her

6

in ensuring that the man responsible was

7

appropriately dealt with and punished; right?

8

A

That's fair.

9

Q

You're a police officer yourself, you've known

10

this women by now for some 15 years and you must

11

have been concerned both for her safety that this

12

person wouldn't do it again and that he would be

13

dealt with by the system; right?

14

A

She was one of many girls that relayed stories

15

like that.

16

the scar that she had that runs from her naval

17

right up to the top of her chest.

18

me why she felt it didn't go ahead so I didn't

19

really pursue it.

20

similar women telling me similar stories.

21

Q

In fact, I remember her showing me

She also told

I could share 100 stories of

First things first, she told you who had done

22

that to her, who was responsible for that scar

23

that ran right up that mid-section; didn't she?

24

A

I don't recall if she did back at that time.

25

Q

You knew it was a pig farmer in Coquitlam?
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1

A

I think she just mentioned a farm in Coquitlam.

2

Q

All right.

3
4

What did she tell you about the

reason the charges didn't go ahead?
A

She said she went into a state of shock at one

5

point and couldn't remember a lot of the details

6

after the fight started and she said I couldn't

7

go to court and say what happened.

8

understand why it never went ahead.

9

Q

She said I

And you were saying that you've encountered over

10

the years numerous other situations like that

11

where the victims have been unable for a time to

12

recount what had happened?

13

A

Yes.

14

Q

And there are ways as a police officer of

15

ensuring that they can provide their testimony;

16

right?

17

A

Sorry, there are ways --

18

Q

There are ways to get the victims ready for court

19

proceedings and ensure that they're able to

20

testify?

21

A

22
23

I can't answer that.

I'm not sure how you would

do that.
Q

When did she tell you the charges weren't going

24

ahead or the trial wasn't going to happen, do you

25

remember?
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1

A

2
3

I can't remember for sure.

after it happened, '99, 2000.
Q

You learned by March of 1998 that Anderson was

4

attacked in Coquitlam.

5

with Lori Shenher?

6

A

7
8

It was a year or two

When do you start working

I believe that was in '99 when they formed the
review team.

Q

9

Did you know of the work she was doing on the
missing women case starting in the middle of

10

1998, the summer of 1998?

11

A

No, I didn't.

12

Q

When did you learn that Shenher had received

13

information in 1998 that a man named Willie who

14

was a sicko picked up prostitutes from Burnaby,

15

New Westminster and Vancouver, that he was

16

probably responsible for Sarah de Vries'

17

disappearance, that he had a farm in Port

18

Coquitlam and he might be responsible for the

19

disappearances of all the missing girls?

20

A

When?

21

Q

When?

22

A

When this commission started some of the

23

testimony that has come out of the commission,

24

that was the first I heard of that.

25

Q

You didn't hear from Lori Shenher any of the
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1

information about this man Pickton out in Port

2

Coquitlam and his involvement in the

3

disappearances of the missing women?

4

A

No, I didn't.

5

Q

Do you remember going to a brainstorming session

6

in May of 1999 at headquarters, 312 Main street,

7

attended by 17 or 18 police officers?

8

A

I could have, I don't recall.

9

Q

Let me read you a list of names.

I'll give you

10

the date too.

It's May 13, 1999, a meeting at

11

the Main Street boardroom, attended by Geramy

12

Field, Bev Zaporozan of the RCMP, Ron Powell, Al

13

Howlett, Stu Cunningham, Brock Giles, Barry

14

Pickerel, Kim Rossmo, Neil Trainor from the UK,

15

Raymond Payette, Oscar Ramos, Don Smith, Lori

16

Shenher, Keith Davidson, RCMP criminal profiler,

17

Axel Hoffbrender, Dan Dickhout, yourself and Doug

18

LePard.

19

respect to a meeting called as a brainstorming

20

session to discuss the disappearances of the

21

women from the Downtown Eastside?

Does that refresh your recollection with

22

A

I do seem to recall that meeting.

23

Q

Lori Shenher testified before this commission

24

that Pickton by name was discussed at length at

25

that meeting.

Do you have any recollection of
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1

that being the case?

2

A

No, I don't.

3

Q

You simply don't remember the meeting at all, do

4
5

you, sir?
A

I do remember sitting there with that bunch but I

6

don't recall his name coming up or anything else

7

that was discussed for that matter.

8

Q

9

Do you recall anything that was discussed at the
brainstorming session with all those people that

10

I just listed?

11

A

No, I don't.

12

Q

You said you hadn't read Deputy Chief LePard's

13

report but I can tell you that he outlines in it

14

the steps Lori Shenher and Geramy Field took

15

starting in July of 1998 with respect to

16

investigating Robert William Pickton as the

17

person of interest or suspect in the

18

disappearances of the women who had gone missing

19

from the Downtown Eastside.

20

report that the first tip came in in late July

21

1998 and that Detective Shenher spent -- worked

22

during the balance of that year with the

23

informant.

24

with the Coquitlam RCMP and in the following

25

year, 1999, three more unrelated tips came in to

He outlines in that

She interviewed Anderson and liaised
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1

the same effect, that this man, Willie Pickton,

2

Robert William Pickton, was likely the person

3

responsible.

4

How is it given your inside information, your

5

inside position and perspective within the VPD,

6

that the gentlemen to your left and to your right

7

could have been unaware of that?

8

in the climate at the time with the

9

disappearances of the women making front page

Okay.

That's all in the report.

How could it be

10

news, being in the papers all the time, being on

11

TV, America's Most Wanted, Dateline, all the rest

12

of it, how could management of the VPD be unaware

13

that Shenher and Field and Giles for that matter,

14

had been working on information that Robert

15

William Pickton was responsible?

16 MR. DICKSON:

Mr. Commissioner, if I may object, Tim Dickson

17

for the VPD.

I think that question is a bit

18

speculative for this witness.

19

Ward, he noted Constable Dickson's previous

20

evidence that he hadn't read the LePard report

21

and Mr. Ward as I heard him tried to summarize

22

what that report said with respect to the

23

investigation done in 1998 and on.

24

Dickson has said he didn't know of the Hiscox

25

information before and it strikes me --
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1 THE COMMISSIONER:

It's cross-examination and Constable

2

Dickson has given his opinion on a wide range of

3

topics relating not only to the Downtown Eastside

4

but also to the policing structure down there and

5

I think he can answer it.

6

A

Go ahead.

I can't speak for these gentlemen but until Mr.

7

Pickton's name went up on our wall in the review

8

team I wasn't aware of him and even after he went

9

up there was other people I actually thought were

10

better suspects than Mr. Pickton.

11 MR. WARD:
12

Q

He went up on the wall in '99; right?

13

A

That's correct.

14

CHRIS BEACH:

Resumed

15 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARD:
16

Q

17

Let me ask your colleagues, starting from my
left, Mr. Beach, have you read the LePard report?

18

A

Not entirely, no.

19

Q

From your position and perspective in Vancouver

20

Police Department management, can you explain why

21

you didn't know of Lori Shenher and Geramy

22

Field's and Brock Giles' and Corporal Connor's

23

pursuit of Robert William Pickton as a suspect in

24

the disappearances of the Downtown Eastside sex

25

trade workers in 1998 and 1999?
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1

A

They wouldn't have shared -- they certainly

2

wouldn't have shared suspect information with me

3

I wouldn't think.

4

identified as a suspect, and I don't know whether

5

he had or had not, I wouldn't expect them to

6

share that kind of information with me.

7

Q

If indeed he had been

Sir, in 1998 and '99 stories are appearing on a

8

regular basis in the Vancouver Sun and Vancouver

9

Province, it's on television, it's on the radio,

10

there's a real problem with women going missing

11

from the Downtown Eastside.

12

Vancouver Police Department management, elsewhere

13

in your police department investigators have

14

solid, credible information, according to them,

15

that the person responsible resides in Port

16

Coquitlam, an identified man grinding their

17

bodies up.

18

the investigators on an issue of such public

19

importance?

20

A

You're in the

Doesn't management communicate with

Investigators would investigate the evidence at

21

hand and bring charges if the evidence supports

22

it as soon as possible.

23

understanding, that would be my expectation.

24

It's not necessary or important.

25

-- I don't think it's a good idea to share the
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1

name of a suspect when they're trying to gather

2

evidence to bring a charge.

3

involved in the investigation, I wouldn't expect

4

that information to be shared with me.

5

Q

Unless I'm actively

You knew everything that was going on in the

6

McMinn kidnapping investigation as it was

7

occurring I suggest, didn't you?

8
9 MR. WARD:

A

I had nothing to do with that investigation.
That wasn't my question.

10 MR. DICKSON:
11 MR. WARD:

Yes, it was.

Excuse me, it wasn't my question.

12 THE COMMISSIONER:
13
14 MR. DICKSON:

He's making an objection.

I want to hear

the objection.
Thank you, Mr. Commissioner.

I just point out

15

that the question was from Mr. Ward:

16

everything that was happening in the McMinn

17

investigation as it occurred?

18

said:

19

investigation.

20

wasn't my question.

21

to Mr. Beach.

22 THE COMMISSIONER:

You knew

And Mr. Beach

Well, I had nothing to do with the McMinn
And the reply came back:

That

I only wish him to be fair

I'm sure he can answer it appropriately.

23

The fact is, he said he had nothing to do with

24

the investigation but he still could have some

25

knowledge of what was happening.
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1

yes or no.

2 MR. BEACH:

No.

3 MR. WARD:
4

Q

I put it to you, sir, when there are issues of

5

widespread public concern hitting the front pages

6

of the newspapers and the television and involve

7

the Vancouver Police Department, managers talk

8

about them with each other; right?

9

deputy chiefs, the chief discuss such matters,

10
11

Inspectors,

right?
A

Mr. Commissioner, my response is this, there are

12

all kinds of different kinds of discussions that

13

people may or may not have when they have

14

different interests certainly, I would certainly

15

agree with that.

16

is there was an investigation undertaken by

17

experienced investigators who were trying to

18

compile evidence, identify a suspect, bring about

19

charges.

20

nor was I given any detail with respect to that

21

investigation.

22

Q

What I'm trying to convey here

I wasn't part of that investigation,

Detective Constable Shenher testified here as I

23

recall her testimony she kept her supervisor

24

apprised of the steps she was taking in the

25

investigation so when she dealt with the
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1

informant Hiscox who had provided the information

2

about Pickton, she told Field.

3

and interviewed the victim of Pickton's '97

4

attack, she told Field.

5

Corporal Connor in Coquitlam and the two of them

6

consulted each other on what to do with the

7

information that this pig farmer named Robert

8

William Pickton was likely responsible, she told

9

Field.

When she went out

When she liaised with

Field is coming to testify.

You would

10

understand, wouldn't you, Mr. Beach, given the

11

structure of the Vancouver Police Department,

12

that important information like that on an

13

investigation that is attracting widespread

14

public attention and concern would be passed up

15

the chain of command, wouldn't you?

16

A

Yes, some of it would.

17

Q

Thank you.

Have you recently looked at the

18

minutes of the weekly management meetings that

19

were held every Wednesday by inspectors, deputy

20

chiefs and the chief at the Vancouver Police

21

Department?

22

A

No, I haven't.

23

Q

So you can't say today whether the information

24

gathered by Shenher in the field was coming to

25

the attention of those sitting at those
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1

management meetings, can you?

2

A

I don't know.

I can't say that.

3

Q

Is it your evidence, Mr. Beach, that you were

4

unaware of Shenher and Field's work on the file

5

in '98 and '99 when Shenher was gathering

6

information about Pickton's likely involvement as

7

a suspect in the women's disappearances?

8

A

9

Essentially, yes.

I knew from a meeting in the

Downtown Eastside after I was assigned to

10

District 2, fairly soon afterwards I went to a

11

meeting along with Staff Sergeant MacKay-Dunn and

12

I heard a presentation from Detective Constable

13

Shenher during which she essentially canvassed

14

the community for information about sex trade

15

workers that may have gone missing, that kind of

16

thing.

That was my first information about it.

17

GARY GREER:

Resumed

18 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARD:
19

Q

Same question for you, Mr. Greer.

Were you

20

unaware of Shenher's work investigating Pickton

21

as a suspect in 1998 and 1999?

22

A

That's correct, Mr. Commissioner, I was unaware.

23

Q

Did the reports that were appearing in the

24

newspaper and on television about the frequency

25

of the disappearances of these sex trade workers
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1

from the Downtown Eastside, your District 2,

2

cause you concern?

3

A

Yes, they did.

That's why in the original

4

receipt of the report from Dave Dickson that we

5

thought a working group would be an appropriate

6

way to proceed and then in dealing with Major

7

Crime determined that they were prepared to do

8

this investigation though Missing Persons and we

9

would continue to assist them.

Then we continued

10

to ask questions as to their progress and we

11

would get periodic reports authored by Detective

12

Constable Shenher about where they were in terms

13

of their success at finding these missing

14

persons, the problems that they were experiencing

15

in terms of the processes around missing persons,

16

and so that's what we received.

17

before, Mr. Commissioner, about the process of

18

investigations that the investigators keep the

19

particulars of an investigation such as

20

informants, suspects and evidence, confidential.

21

That's a requirement of an investigation, it's a

22

requirement if you see the major case management.

23

That's the requirement of an investigation.

24

I would expect from investigators as they

25

proceeded and as they may have developed a better
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1

understanding of a suspect, et cetera which

2

required additional resources for that

3

investigation, that then goes to management.

4

doesn't necessarily follow that they provide

5

particulars but they could advocate for greater

6

resources such as having Strike Force assist

7

them, or having some other specialty units assist

8

them.

9

by priorities.

It

All that is resource-based and is assigned
So that's where I would expect

10

investigators to inform management about their

11

need for resources.

12

Q

You've got a senior position in management with

13

respect to District 2.

14

inquiries you make something along these lines:

15

We're getting pressure from the media, from the

16

public on this matter.

17

Isn't that one of the first questions you would

18

ask your personnel?

19

A

My first question was:

Isn't one of the first

Have we got any leads?

Have we got any leads in

20

terms of determining why these women were going

21

missing?

22

around these missing people so we can answer

23

that.

24

of the "loose lips sink ships" idea.

25

they told me because they felt as an inspector

Can we determine what the story is

I don't want to know particulars because
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1

they should tell me a name and then by chance I

2

reveal that name, that's a major problem and it's

3

happened in other investigations where managers

4

quite inadvertently have leaked something because

5

they have been told something they didn't need to

6

know.

7

of an investigation are need to know and those

8

things I didn't need to know.

9

the bigger picture about what they were doing

10
11

So in those cases, the actual particulars

I needed to know

with the missing women's procedures.
Q

Sir, I put it to you that the need for

12

confidentiality extends to the public obviously,

13

but it's nonsense to suggest that an inspector or

14

a deputy chief or a chief of the Vancouver Police

15

Department can't be trusted with a suspect's

16

name; agreed?

17

A

The policies and procedures around investigations

18

is it's need to know and it's not related to your

19

rank.

20

participation in an investigation.

21

Q

It's need to know in terms of your

This is in the headlines, this is on NBC's

22

Dateline, this is on America's Most Wanted.

23

Vancouver Police Department is coming under fire

24

on a weekly basis in the press.

25

that the chief, deputy chief, and the inspectors
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1

responsible for the area where the women are

2

disappearing from need to know that the prime

3

suspect or person of interest is a pig farmer in

4

Port Coquitlam; don't you agree?

5

A

No.

As I said, investigations and the

6

particulars are need to know.

7

sits.

8

point out is that the efforts the Vancouver

9

Police were doing that led to those things, that

10

led to America's Most Wanted, to Dateline, those

11

were our efforts trying to bring out what was

12

happening to the missing persons; that was our

13

efforts trying to solve what was going on.

14

Within the Investigation division which you will

15

have an opportunity to speak to, they were

16

conducting their part of the investigation which

17

remains confidential, and the argument would be

18

from their point of view is where were they

19

taking that investigation and how did they inform

20

within the department their need for resources

21

for that investigation.

22

Q

That's where it

What I agreed with and what I want to

That's how it works.

Sir, we know now the case was solved in July of

23

1998 and that the informant Hiscox and the

24

receipt of the information Wayne Leng shared in

25

the reward, the $100,000 reward; right?
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1

A

I don't believe it was solved in 1998.

It was

2

some information that proceeded to inform an

3

investigation.

4

in for any investigation -- I mean, it's fair in

5

2012 hindsight to that particular point, you

6

could say that particular point informed the

7

investigation.

8

the moment in 1998, it was only a person

9

providing third-hand information that was then

10

There are so many tips that come

But unfortunately in the fog of

investigated by the investigators.

11 MR. DICKSON:

I didn't want to interrupt that exchange but I

12

think the question asked about whether an

13

informant shared in the reward, and I want to

14

flag that that must remain a confidential matter

15

between the board.

16

confidentiality in terms of the board so I just

17

wanted to flag that.

18 THE COMMISSIONER:

The board offers total

I appreciate rewards are confidential and

19

the recipients may be confidential but we've

20

already heard that evidence so I don't know how

21

much turns on that in any event.

22 MR. WARD:

And it's reported in the Vancouver Sun, the world

23

knows that Leng and Hiscox shared the reward.

24

have to figure out where I was, Mr. Commissioner.

25 THE COMMISSIONER:

We'll take the morning break.
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1 THE REGISTRAR:

Order.

This hearing will now recess for 15

2

minutes.

3

(PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 11:00 A.M.)

4

(PROCEEDINGS RESUMED AT 11:17 A.M.)

5 THE REGISTRAR:

This hearing is now resumed.

6 MR. WARD:
7

Q

Mr. Greer, you mentioned the fog of the time

8

period that I was referring to and I appreciate

9

that today we're looking back in hindsight, but I

10

want to take you to 1998 and specifically to part

11

of Lori Shenher's work then and I have these

12

questions for you before I get to the actual

13

matter.

14

Vancouver Police Department and had the resources

15

of the department at her disposal when she was

16

doing her working; correct?

Lori Shenher was employed by the

17

A

Yes.

18

Q

August 21, 1998, after she has received

19

information to the effect that pig farmer Robert

20

Willie Pickton is likely responsible for the

21

disappearance of Sarah de Vries and other women,

22

she goes out I think to Burnaby and interviews

23

Anderson, the victim of Pickton's '97 attack.

24

You know that that happened now; correct?

25

A

Yes.
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1

Q

2

I'm going to read you what LePard wrote about
that.

At page 68 of Exhibit 1 he says this:

3

On August 21st, 1998, Shenher located and

4

interviewed She found her credible,

5

and still very frightened of Pickton.

6

Detective Constable Shenher described being

7

"struck with her statement – it was almost

8

Verbatim to her statement to the Mounties.

9

She had a great memory for detail and it was

10

obviously traumatic; she was reliving it."

11

We know now, and you know, that the charges

12

against Pickton of attempted murder, assault with

13

a weapon, forceable confinement and assault were

14

stayed in January of 1998?

15

A

Yes.

16

Q

You agree with me that the public expects members

17

of the Vancouver Police Department to act in the

18

public interests and to make their communities

19

safer; right?

20

A

Yes.

21

Q

So you've got a VPD member interviewing the

22

victim of an attempted murder in August of 1998

23

and finding her credible and very frightened of

24

her assailant, according to LePard; right?

25

A

Yes.
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1

Q

Can you explain why the Vancouver Police

2

Department didn't discharge its duty to the

3

public and to the victim of the '97 attack by

4

seeking to have the charges reinstated after

5

Shenher found her to be credible and very

6

frightened?

7

didn't seek to have the assailant Pickton put on

8

trial?

9

A

Why the Vancouver Police Department

I guess my -- I'm speculating, Mr.

10

Commissioner -- but the issue would be that the

11

investigator having now done these couple of

12

steps in the investigation, either didn't form

13

that opinion or in terms of her work with her

14

supervisor and other investigators didn't come to

15

that conclusion and so that's the only thing.

16

certainly was in terms of the Vancouver Police

17

Department we have to rely on that investigator

18

to gather the investigation, form an opinion and

19

proceed, so you would have to ask Constable

20

Shenher or her supervisor as to how they

21

proceeded with that information, and I don't

22

know.

23

Q

It

You know, based on your experience, that the

24

charges that were stayed in January of 1998 could

25

be reinstated or rekindled within a year; right?
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1

A

Again, I would speculate since they were charges

2

from Coquitlam that, again, it would be

3

communication that would have to occur between

4

our investigators and the people in Coquitlam and

5

ultimately crown, and why that didn't happen I

6

don't know.

7

DAVE DICKSON:

Resumed

8 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARD:
9

Q

Mr. Dickson, you were asked earlier, last week,

10

about the testimony of Elaine Allan and the

11

statements in Stevie Cameron's book about your

12

dealings with Elaine Allen with respect to the

13

disappearance of Tiffany Drew.

14

that?

Do you remember

15

A

I do.

16

Q

Just to summarize, the book said and Ms. Allen

17

testified that it was her belief that you lied to

18

her and Ashwan when you said that Tiffany Drew

19

had been located in a treatment facility and

20

didn't want to speak to them when in fact she had

21

fallen victim to murder, and you have given us

22

your version of that; correct?

23

that you didn't lie?

Your evidence is

24

A

I've given you Ashwan's version.

25

Q

Ashwan says you didn't lie?
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1

A

That's correct.

2

Q

My question for you is quite a narrow one, it's

3

this, after the book was published, put on book

4

shelves across the country -- I'm talking about

5

On the Farm -- did you take any steps to contact

6

the author or the publisher to correct the record

7

with respect to your dealings with Elaine Allen

8

respecting Tiffany Drew?

9

A

I didn't, because I felt I would probably end up

10

on the phone for a couple days with the errors

11

that are in that book.

12

me from the Island, she got interviewed for the

13

book, and the author identified the wrong person

14

as her sexual abuser.

15

phoned me in tears wanting to know what she could

16

do about it.

17

statements in the book.

18

given yesterday had the one about Elaine Allen

19

and it also had another story about Sereena

20

Abotsway and Angela Jardine saying -- I think it

21

said the police mistakenly identified Sereena as

22

Angela when in fact Sereena Abotsway was actually

23

going around identifying herself as Angela

24

Jardine because she was so upset at Angela going

25

missing.

I had a young lady phone

The lady in question

There are a number of inaccurate
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1

Q

So the short answer is that you did not contact

2

author or the publisher with respect to the

3

description of the incident involving Tiffany

4

Drew; correct?

5

A

Correct.

6

DOUG MACKAY-DUNN:

Resumed

7 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARD:
8

Q

9

Mr. MacKay-Dunn, I've got a couple questions for
you.

I've let you sit there silent for a while

10

but I wanted to ask you a few things.

11

politician now?

You're a

12

A

Right.

13

Q

You testified as I took a note of your evidence

14

that there was a view within the department

15

during the time period under review by this

16

inquiry, as you put it, and I've tried to quote

17

you verbatim, the view was, "They're only

18

prostitutes, why should we spend the money" and

19

you said, "I heard this over and over again."

20

you recall that testimony?

21

A

Do

My testimony was that "they're only prostitutes".

22

I don't recall mentioning money specifically, but

23

I did go on to say that the myth was that they're

24

basically travelling and they'll come back.

25

Q

And you heard that myth expressed in one version
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1

or another repeatedly by colleagues within the

2

department?

3

A

Correct.

4

Q

Can you identify some of the colleagues in the

5
6

management level who were purveyors of that view?
A

Not directly.

I only heard -- I heard by way of

7

hearsay, if you will, some of the comments

8

attributed to some others but, again, to be fair,

9

I wasn't there for those conversations.

But I

10

will say this, that that was the general view

11

that was held.

12

they're just hookers.

13

going back home or they're on a road trip," was

14

the term, "and they'll be back".

15

reason, as I gave my evidence, when Dave came to

16

me, when I went to Rossmo to deflate that myth

17

and to prove in fact there was something going

18

on.

19

a hill.

20

Q

It was one that said, "Oh well,
They're probably away

That's the

Quite frankly, it was like pushing water up

And the way you've put it just now, the sort of

21

view that you heard expressed to the effect that

22

they're just hookers, that suggests to me at

23

least that there was an attitude within the

24

Vancouver Police Department that time, energy,

25

monetary resources, shouldn't be spent on
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1

tracking these people down because they're just

2

hookers, they're of a lower stratum of society;

3

is that fair?

4

A

Parts of it is fair.

I held the opinion and I

5

still do, sadly, that there was that

6

differentiation in terms of their role in

7

society.

8

the phone to my wife who is a jail nurse who had

9

adopted these women as "her girls" and she told

As I mentioned before, when I got on

10

me, her term was missing, which amplified my

11

actions in terms of getting Rossmo involved.

12

problem I had, and I'm speaking personally, my

13

own opinion, is that I felt that not enough

14

resources were being applied to that and

15

arguments against deploying those resources were

16

being constructed as a matter of convenience to

17

support that position and that was my opinion at

18

the time and it made me very angry.

19

conversations in the coffee shop, hallways, et

20

cetera, I was trying to point out that something

21

was going on and, again, I was not being

22

successful.

23

involved in doing things following the "chain of

24

command" which required us to go up the Patrol

25

Division and across and down to the Investigation

The

Even in

Then when Gary -- when Gary was
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1

Division who had, shall we say, taken control of

2

the investigation through Missing Persons.

3

Q

Let me, if I may, try to summarize and put back

4

to you some of that testimony.

5

your rank at the time?

You -- I forget

6

A

Staff sergeant.

7

Q

You were a staff sergeant within the VPD, your

8

wife had been a long-time jail nurse and she was

9

reporting to you, giving you the benefit of her

10

knowledge, that these women she had been seeing

11

on a regular basis were no longer around and that

12

caused her concern?

13

A

Yes.

14

Q

You also came to learn I think that these women

15

who were going missing hadn't collected welfare

16

cheques and there was other evidence supporting

17

the disappearances?

18

A

That information came from Mr. Dickson.

19

Q

So you were receiving what you perceived to be

20

credible evidence that the women may be victims

21

of foul play and your colleagues were

22

endeavouring to dispute that evidence?

23

A

Not all of them, quite frankly.

Gary was on side

24

from the beginning.

25

that forward following traditional -- basically

56

In fact, we were tried move

D. MacKay-Dunn (for the Commission)
Cross-exam by Mr. Ward

1

you're trying to acquire resources.

To your

2

point, when Gary came to me the first time with

3

the list, there had been a previous list that had

4

been investigated and the individuals on that

5

list had been found, so now I have a problem with

6

this new list.

7

been oh, it's just another list -- if you catch

8

my meaning.

9

that she felt in fact there were women missing

The first reaction would have

The call to my wife and her response

10

added credibility to what Dave was saying to me.

11

That's when I went to Rossmo to run the numbers,

12

to look at it as a research project to determine

13

if in fact there was anything to go on and

14

whether or not there was anything we should be

15

looking at.

16

Inspector Greer, myself, Rossmo and I think Mr.

17

Dickson was there and when we ran into --

18

developed this sort of strategy, and we talked

19

about his at that point -- things that had to be

20

done from an investigative view, I think he

21

called it a blueprint, but that was done verbally

22

and I believe his report, I could be wrong, came

23

somewhat later than that.

24
25

Q

Then we had the meeting with

Let me ask you this.

we

Given your current career

as politician, and I'm somewhat familiar with
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1

that, I've seen you quoted in the North Shore

2

News and other --

3

A

Regrettably.

4

Q

But you do appear to be a thoughtful individual

5

and I want to ask you in the context of this

6

commission perhaps making recommendations, given

7

your understanding of an attitude that pervaded

8

the Vancouver Police Department about these women

9

at the time they were going missing that perhaps

10

led to inadequate resources being deployed, given

11

your present position on municipal council, what

12

recommendations could you conceive of or what

13

ideas could you conceive of that could prevent

14

the same sort of attitude from prevailing in like

15

circumstances in the future?

16

A

The answer is a complex one, if I may, Mr.

17

Commissioner, but I do have recommendations.

18

start off with, detox and rehab treatment for

19

all.

20

forced.

21

not be in jail, it should be in a legitimate,

22

certified treatment facility.

23

the crime in the Downtown Eastside and other

24

areas is driven by addiction and poverty, they go

25

hand in hand.

That's very important.

To

Be it voluntary or

If it is a forced treatment it should

Because a lot of

Safe housing for these
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1

individuals.

2

believe a police officer should be -- and this is

3

the mindset I would hope all police officers

4

evolve to -- consider themselves to be a catalyst

5

for positive social change, working with the

6

community, supporting the community as the

7

community itself gains that strength to make

8

itself crime-resistant and enhance the safety of

9

those disadvantaged people living in the area.

10
11

From a policing perspective, and I

So proper treatment and safe housing.
Then from a community-based policing model,

12

the outreach workers, like the Dave Dicksons of

13

the world, I would clone Dave Dickson quite

14

frankly as many times as I could, and the work

15

that Toby Hinton and his people did in terms of

16

the Odd Squad putting a human face on it.

17

we have to do is make everybody, the police, the

18

public, the media, realize that these folks are

19

real people.

20

are not the underclass and not worthy of our

21

attention.

22

been resolved and I don't think that's been

23

resolved at the level that the media -- I

24

remember when I was down there as a staff

25

sergeant.

They're not just a one-off.

What

They

That is my fear, I don't think that's

I would take the media on tours and I
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1

would point, Mr. Ward, Mr. Commissioner, to a

2

fellow passed out in the corner, just a bundle of

3

clothes, and I would say to the young reporter,

4

"See that person over there?

5

being.

6

whatever."

7

That is a human

That is somebody's father, brother, son,

My point many times is we worry about

8

conservation of our fisheries, we worry about

9

protecting our forests, clean air and water, but

10

we don't spend the time I think we should be

11

spending in helping these folks get back on their

12

feet, clean them up and point them to a more

13

productive life so once again their quality of

14

life is enhanced.

15

right now is hell on earth and we are all

16

responsible because we're not doing enough to

17

help them.

18

Q

What they're going through

In terms of policing issues, I suggest that

19

perhaps many women and men are not motivated to

20

become police officers so that they can do, in

21

effect, social work?

22

A

You know, I've heard this even today and even

23

with the RCMP in North Vancouver talking to some

24

senior people, the struggle they have convincing

25

their officers -- I heard this day one on the job
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1

-- we're not social workers, we're cops.

I call

2

it the Starsky & Hutch syndrome.

3

the car, wear plainclothes, kick doors in, arrest

4

people, it's all wonderful.

5

young officers, when I came on and even today,

6

they consider being a social worker or a catalyst

7

for positive social change or involved in true

8

crime prevention, community based policing, not

9

community relations or spin doctoring, is somehow

Run around in

That's what a lot of

10

not within the police job.

11

worked on it but it's not reinforced in my

12

opinion on the street.

13

at the promotion track, if you are exclusively a

14

community policing officer as opposed to a

15

homicide detective, the homicide detective going

16

up the chain of command, that one is going to go

17

quicker than this person.

18

want to get out of that as quickly as possible.

19

I've seen it in North Vancouver because they want

20

to get into IHIT or something in order to enhance

21

their promotional opportunities.

22

based policing, because is so critically

23

important to policing across Canada, if that is

24

your ladder to success, then people would really

25

be involved in it.
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1

Q

You've identified the JI, Justice Institute, as

2

being one institution that can perhaps focus more

3

on this aspect of the policing function, and I

4

appreciate that, but can you help us perhaps with

5

being able to point to any models or

6

jurisdictions where you've been able to identify

7

a different set of policing beliefs or standards

8

that seem to work?

9

A

I'm not really -- I know many people have talked

10

about what has occurred in other jurisdictions.

11

Earlier we heard the comment -- I think somebody

12

made a comment about what happened in New York,

13

the broken windows theory.

14

resources invested on the street; the number of

15

police officers went straight up.

16

the commission that the drug problem in the

17

Downtown Eastside is such a problem, so acute,

18

such a critical mass, when I was there our

19

officers were actually afraid to go in and do the

20

checks unless they had adequate backup.

21

users had taken control of the street.

22

Gastown, Chinatown, they were absolutely livid.

23

The summer, I think it was '98, it was a hot

24

summer, you couldn't move, you couldn't swing a

25

cat down there because they just never left, and
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1

you can't have policing if you lose control of

2

the street.

3

the street because your role as a beat officer --

4

and I worked Granville Street for four years --

5

you're there to protect everybody.

6

girls working the street, the sex trade workers

7

want you down there for protection, they have

8

someone to go to.

9

important part.

You always have to have control of

In fact, the

So you play an incredibly

I would invest in detox

10

treatment, I would investigate in crime

11

prevention, education, I would invest on the

12

federal level to do something productive in terms

13

of the terrible conditions on First Nations

14

lands, families.

15

have to bear and I would argue, Mr. Commissioner,

16

there is more than enough blame to go around.

17

Q

This is a problem all of us

Fair enough, and I think if I can try to capture

18

or summarize what you have said, these are

19

fundamental issues, these are big issues, these

20

are social issues that need to be addressed at

21

all levels of government.

22

A

Yes.

23

DAVE DICKSON:

24 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARD:
25

Fair?

Q

Mr. Dickson?
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1

A

Can I add something to the New York story?

Down

2

there it's amazing, there's nobody dealing drugs

3

on the street.

4

which we don't, and anybody that knows anything

5

about drug addiction has been calling for that

6

for years.

7

York, Mr. Commissioner, you made a comment about

8

the large amount of police there.

9

have a large amount of police but what they do,

They have mandatory treatment,

Another interesting thing in New

They don't

10

approximately every two hours police officers in

11

their cars from every borough in New York will

12

get together and parade down Times Square with

13

their sirens flipping and making a noise.

14

have 15 police cars and they do it on purpose,

15

they come down to Times Square, they parallel

16

park on the sidewalk and they stay there for

17

approximately two minutes and then they go back

18

to the different boroughs.

19

was, jeez, look at all the cops.

20

police about this and they said they do it for

21

perception purposes only.

22

that many of us but when we do it people are

23

under the belief there is a ton of us, and I was

24

very impressed because that's what the people

25

thought.

They

The comments I heard
I spoke to

They said there's not

He said there's not that many of us.

64

C. Beach (for the Commission)
Cross-exam by Mr. Ward

1

They purposely do this every two hours, two and a

2

half hours, down Times Square and everybody

3

watches this little parade of police cars.

4

thought it was an amazing idea and obviously

5

worked.

6 THE COMMISSIONER:

There's a large number though that actually

7

walk around amongst the crowds around Times

8

Square and Madison Square Garden.

9 THE WITNESS:
10

I

That's correct, too.

But these police cars were

a most impressive show.

11

CHRIS BEACH:

Resumed

12 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARD:
13

Q

Mr. Beach, as I understand it you played a role

14

in the investigations that ensued after Pickton's

15

farm was searched in February of 2002; is that

16

right?

17

A

Yes.

18

Q

Can you describe the role that you had with

19
20

respect to that matter?
A

There were multiple roles in a sense.

From an

21

organizational perspective I was by then the

22

inspector in charge of the Major Crimes Section

23

and Project Evenhanded, as it was then known,

24

became my responsibility in terms of Vancouver

25

Police Department resourcing.
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1

things -- primary roles, was to acquire resources

2

for Project Evenhanded as those needs become

3

known to me.

4

mediation, if you will, Mr. Commissioner.

5

would get a request for investigators or

6

something like that and my role then was to

7

inform the executive of that need, gain the

8

executives' permission to acquire these resources

9

and then discuss those acquisitions with my

It was a little bit like shuttle
I

10

colleagues who, of course, as you can appreciate,

11

were not always anxious to relinquish resources,

12

they were difficult to come by, but for the most

13

part I found my colleagues quite co-operative in

14

that respect.

15

significant roles.

16

Q

That was one of my most

And if I can just stop you there for a moment,

17

the phenomenon of colleagues being unwilling to

18

relinquish resources is part of something I

19

suggest that can be colloquially referred to as

20

turf wars; is that fair?

21

A

Mr. Ward, I wouldn't describe it as a turf war.

22

How I would describe is this:

23

within the Vancouver Police Department had

24

different responsibilities and to some degree or

25

another were held to account for the performance
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1

of their personnel in meeting those

2

responsibilities, and there was a belief, and I

3

shared the belief, that at some point without

4

sufficient resources it's very difficult to meet

5

your mandates.

6

for a seasoned investigator to deplete any

7

manager's roster, that created some tension.

8

was a difficult thing for a manager to

9

relinquish, particularly the types of resources I

10

was looking for, experienced, excellent performer

11

type folks, so I wouldn't characterize it as a

12

turf war.

13

encountered wanted to do a good job at the things

14

that they were responsible for, at the same time

15

looking after the interests of the organization

16

and its responsibilities which included

17

resourcing Evenhanded.

18

Q

So when Chris Beach came calling

It

I would say that all managers that I

It must have become apparent fairly early on in

19

the days and weeks following February 5, 2002,

20

that the investigation of Pickton would be a

21

resource-intensive activity; right?

22

A

That's true.

23

Q

And you then, if I understand your evidence

24

correctly, had to essentially lobby your

25

colleagues and senior managers at the VPD for
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1

some resources to contribute to Evenhanded; is

2

that right?

3

A

Yes.

4

Q

What I'm getting at is this, the resistance I

5

suggest must have been along the lines of:

Well,

6

look, we've got lots of problems here in

7

Vancouver, lots of investigations here to worry

8

about, why should we be releasing people to Port

9

Coquitlam?

If indeed that was a reaction you

10

were getting, what was your pitch back to them?

11

What was your explanation for why the department

12

should contribute resources to this Port

13

Coquitlam investigation?

14 THE COMMISSIONER:
15 MR. DICKSON:

Mr. Dickson, you have an objection?

Thank you, Mr. Commissioner.

I just have been

16

listening to the last number of questions and

17

they seem all directed at the post-February 5,

18

2002 period which is beyond the terms of

19

reference and not a topic that has been

20

canvassed, other than perhaps with Inspector

21

Adam, and not a topic on which other VPD

22

witnesses have been questioned to my knowledge

23

and I --

24 THE COMMISSIONER:
25

He's asking about where resources ought to

have been directed.
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1 MR. DICKSON:
2

After the initial search of Pickton's farm, not
during the terms of reference of the inquiry.

3 THE COMMISSIONER:

I think part of it is relevant because we

4

do have to make recommendations as to where we're

5

going in all of this, so I agree with you that

6

our evidence needs to be confined to that time

7

period that the terms of reference tell us but,

8

nevertheless, there is some concern here about

9

where we're going in all of this.

10 MR. WARD:

Mr. Commissioner, if I may respond for the benefit

11

of both my friend and yourself and the witness,

12

it may assist.

13

did you free up resource after February 5,

14

relates to a thread in the evidence so far that I

15

perceived which amounts to an explanation by the

16

Vancouver Police Department that perhaps one of

17

the reasons --

18 THE COMMISSIONER:
19 MR. WARD:

The reason for that question, how

I understand the reason for it.

All right.

I just have a couple -- if I may

20

continue, a couple more questions along these

21

lines that may be of assistance.

22 THE COMMISSIONER:

The point here has been that there's this

23

suggestion throughout -- more than a suggestion

24

-- that really this was Coquitlam's problem and

25

really that since the murders were taking place
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1

out there that this is something that Evenhanded

2

should have been doing and it wasn't an issue

3

Vancouver Police should have been directing

4

resources to.

5 MR. DICKSON:

Just on that point, Mr. Commissioner, if I can,

6

of course there's the distinction between the

7

Coquitlam RCMP investigation into Pickton and

8

Evenhanded and it's certainly not the VPD's

9

position that it should not contribute resources

10

to Evenhanded.

11 THE COMMISSIONER:

I know that, but we're talking about a

12

larger problem here as to what happens when

13

something like this happens and we know there has

14

been a certain amount of finger pointing that has

15

gone on here between the two forces, so I think

16

that's a legitimate question to ask in light of

17

that.

18 MR. WARD:

Thank you.

19

Perhaps I'll start again and cast the

questions a little bit differently.

20

CHRIS BEACH:

Resumed

21 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARD:
22

Q

I take it, sir, Mr. Beach, that you were able to

23

obtain sufficient resources to assist the Project

24

Evenhanded investigation; is that right?

25

A

I think I was able to find the resources for
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1

every request.

2

was able to do that.

3

Q

I may be mistaken but I think I

In terms of manpower, boots on the ground,

4

people, can you say how many members of the

5

Vancouver Police Department were allocated?

6

A

7
8

I'm sorry, I can't.
24.

Q

9

I would be guessing at 20 or

I'm not really sure.

Something of that order though, perhaps a couple
of dozen?

10

A

Yes.

11

Q

And then the question I'll return to is what was

12

your pitch to your colleagues to free up

13

personnel for that purpose?

14

A

Well, the pitch, as you say, was that the

15

evidence as we knew it at that point pointed to

16

horrific crimes that had to be investigated and

17

to do the investigation that the evidence was

18

suggesting was going to be incredibly time

19

consuming and manpower intensive and we had an

20

obligation to support that investigation and the

21

investigation needed X number of resources.

22

Q

Did you perceive yourself that your obligation to

23

support the investigation arose because the

24

victims of these horrific crimes were Vancouver

25

residents who apparently had been taken from the
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1
2

streets of Vancouver to the other jurisdiction?
A

There was a connection with Vancouver and that

3

connection in my view involved the Vancouver

4

Police Department; therefore, Vancouver Police

5

Department resources were deployed.

6

say, Mr. Commissioner, that when I arrived at

7

Major Crime Section, Vancouver Police Department

8

was already committed to this investigation by

9

whatever name it was known, so this was a

I should

10

continuation, an increase, I suppose, in

11

personnel, but the executive of the police

12

department had already acknowledged the

13

commitment to the investigation.

14 MR. WARD:

Thank you.

I have one last question that I'm going

15

to pose to each of you in turn and it relates to

16

one of my clients' overarching concerns which is

17

why wasn't Pickton stopped earlier, why wasn't he

18

caught, why wasn't he apprehended sooner than he

19

was.

20

The question for each of you, and we'll

21

start with you, Mr. Beach, is this:

22

know, if anything, about the activities of law

23

enforcement agencies in monitoring the Pickton

24

brothers and their associates' activities prior

25

to July 1998?
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1 MR. BEACH:
2 MR. WARD:

What did I know?
What do you know now, if anything, about law

3

enforcement agencies' efforts to monitor the

4

activities of the Pickton brothers and their

5

associates before July 1998?

6 MR. BEACH:

When the search warrant was executed at the

7

Pickton farm I didn't know the name at all, and

8

if I had seen a list or lists of potential

9

suspects prior, which I may have, I'm not sure,

10

and that name was on it, it was not prominent or

11

significant in any way.

12

and media reports, et cetera that he was the

13

subject of an investigation with respect to an

14

attempted murder in Coquitlam and that there was

15

some police investigation afterwards and that

16

essentially a stay of proceedings was entered

17

with respect to a charge.

18 MR. WARD:

I now know from reports

What about monitoring of the Picktons and their

19

associates before that incident; do you know of

20

anything about that?

21 MR. BEACH:
22 MR. WARD:

I really don't.
Mr. Greer, same question?

23 MR. GREER:
24 MR. WARD:

I know nothing about that.
Mr. Dickson?

25 MR. DICKSON:

The only monitoring I am aware of or incidents
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1

he came into contact with the police is the

2

incident in '97 with Anderson and I believe I

3

remember hearing when I was on the review team

4

that they put him under surveillance for a week

5

and something happened with that.

6

know.

7 MR. WARD:

That was after the '97 incident?

8 MR. DICKSON:
9
10 MR. WARD:

That's all I

Yes.

In '99 or 2000 when I was part of the

review team.
Thank you.

11 MR. MACKAY-DUNN:

Mr. MacKay-Dunn?

I really don't have any direct knowledge on

12

of what they were doing on Pickton.

13

prior to what?

14 MR. WARD:

That was

July of '98.

15 MR. MACKAY-DUNN:

The only thing I heard was Piggy's Palace

16

was quite a gathering centre and with local

17

politicians.

18 MR. WARD:

I misspoke.

It occurred to me that I have another

19

question for you, sir, and that relates to your

20

wife's involvement as a nurse at the jail.

21

you know whether she knew Bonnie Fournier?

22 MR. MACKAY-DUNN:

She probably did.

Do

If she was here -- she

23

knew them all.

On balance I am assuming that she

24

would know.

25

ask her, but I couldn't say absolutely.

In fact, when I go home today I will
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1 MR. WARD:

Bonnie Fournier is actually another nurse who

2

worked at the jail.

3 MR. MACKAY-DUNN:
4 MR. WARD:

Did you yourself know Bonnie Fournier?

5 MR. MACKAY-DUNN:
6
7 MR. WARD:

Oh, yes, Bonnie, yes.

If it's the same one -- when did she leave

the jail?

I'm not too sure.

I have the information somewhere.

8

I don't have it

at my fingertips.

9 MR. MACKAY-DUNN:

I may -- if anybody in my family knows

10

Bonnie Fournier it's likely my wife but I'm not

11

sure.

12 MR. WARD:

Your wife or perhaps other nurses at the jail would

13

be sources of information with respect to the

14

lives of these women, the families of whom I

15

represent, should such further information be

16

useful?

17 MR. MACKAY-DUNN:

Yes.

I think the jail nurses would be

18

important in terms of the conditions that these

19

poor women were suffering from and I would agree

20

with you, Mr. Commissioner.

21 MR. WARD:

Thank you very much, gentlemen.

22
23 MR. VERTLIEB:

returning this week.
Thank you.

Thank you for

Those are my questions.

Mr. Commissioner, I believe Mr.

24

Roberts wants to briefly tell you about the

25

motion he is withdrawing.
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1 MR. ROBERTS:

Thank you.

Darrell Roberts for Marion Bryce.

2

Mr. Commissioner, I've been asked by commission

3

counsel to inform you of what I informed him last

4

Friday and my learned friends Mr. Dickson and Mr.

5

Hern, and that is I wish to withdraw the

6

application which brought me here last Monday.

7

On reflection it's not necessary for me to

8

address the issues that are, in particular, in

9

term of reference number 1 which is what I had my

10

eye on.

11

event, the way my note reads is that I am to

12

inform you.

13

have to ask you to order a direction to withdraw

14

the application and I so apply, sir.

15 THE COMMISSIONER:
16 MR. ROBERTS:

I'm wiser after the fact but, in any

If this were a court of law I would

Thank you, Mr. Roberts.

One last matter now that I have the microphone.

17

I did speak to Mr. Vertlieb and in view of your

18

direction this morning I offered my assistance or

19

support in briefing new counsel acting for

20

aboriginal women.

21 THE COMMISSIONER:
22 MR. HIRA:

Thank you.

I appreciate that.

Mr. Commissioner, for the record, Ravi Hira.

With

23

respect to Mr. Roberts' application, I have

24

written to commission counsel not once but twice

25

requesting that Deputy LePard come back.
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1

Dickson in his argument has conceded Deputy

2

LePard can return for the purposes of being

3

cross-examined on matters that engage my clients'

4

interest.

5

have LePard returned for re-examination, I remain

6

of the view that he should return and that

7

request remains with commission counsel, with the

8

fair concession by Mr. Dickson.

9 MR. VERTLIEB:
10
11

In spite of Mr. Roberts' motion to

I understand Mr. Hira and we're considering
that and we'll deal with that in due course.
I just wanted to thank the panel and just

12

alert them to the fact that they may need to come

13

back because Mr. Ward is getting disclosure.

14

just wanted to tell you, I spoke with Mr. Crossin

15

this morning following up on your request and I

16

believe he will have a vetted copy couriered to

17

the commission today that you can review and

18

determine your view of the vetting and where that

19

goes, but we're on that and I believe Mr. Crossin

20

is working diligently to meet the request that

21

you've made of him.

22

Mr. Ward if he has questions arising out of

23

document disclosure, there may also be the need

24

for these witnesses to come back with the new

25

counsel to be appointed by you if that person has
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1

any questions, so I just wanted to alert these

2

four witnesses to that.

3

their time and we know that we're putting them

4

through inconvenience.

5

something he wishes to say.

6 MR. DICKSON:

Yes.

We're appreciative for

I see Mr. Dickson has

Mr. Commissioner, I have a few questions

7

in re-examination and I understood that

8

Ms. Brooks is not going to re-examine today

9

because it seems likely this panel will need to

10

come back.

11 THE COMMISSIONER:
12 MR. DICKSON:
13

Go ahead.

I was going to say I'm in your hands to do it
now or later.

14 THE COMMISSIONER:
15 MR. DICKSON:

How long will you be?

I will be less than ten minutes.

16 THE COMMISSIONER:

Do it now.

17

DOUG MACKAY DUNN:

Resumed

18 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DICKSON:
19

Q

Staff Sergeant MacKay-Dunn, Mr. Gratl asked you

20

when he was cross-examining you some questions

21

about whether the police could make the

22

conceptual leap from a criminalization model to a

23

medicalization model, or a medical model.

24

recall that?

25

A

Yes.
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1

Q

2

You might recall he used InSite as an example of
that conceptual leap?

3

A

He might have -- yes, he did mention InSite.

4

Q

I want to ask, are you aware that in the last

5

five years the VPD has taken an approach of

6

enforcing the communicating law very, very

7

seldom?

8

A

In terms of prostitution, yes.

9

Q

That's the culmination of a shift that began

10

perhaps about a decade ago?

11

A

That's correct.

12

Q

It's an example of the use by the police of their

13

discretion in the enforcement of the criminal

14

law?

15

A

That's correct.

16

Q

But I think you'd agree that that discretion only

17

goes so far.

18

discretion to effectively amend the criminal law,

19

that power of course lies with Parliament?

20

A

The police can't use their

That's correct.

21

GARY GREER:

Resumed

22 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DICKSON:
23

Q

Deputy Chief Greer, Mr. Hira asked you some

24

questions that arose out of your interview with

25

Deputy Chief Evans, and the question that she
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1

posed to you was essentially why wouldn't the VPD

2

drive out to Coquitlam and investigate Pickton;

3

do you recall that?

4

A

Yes.

5

Q

You noted that if the VPD had a suspect in

6

another jurisdiction then they could investigate

7

him but the police practice would be to notify

8

that jurisdiction first?

9

A

Yes.

10

Q

I suggest, however, that if the other

11

jurisdiction is investigating that suspect for

12

the same crime, then it is not part of general

13

policing practice to have two parallel

14

investigations?

15

A

No.

It would just -- you would basically destroy

16

the investigation if everybody was crossing over.

17

So the lead investigation team would be

18

identified.

19

Q

20

Right.

It would create chaos if you were going

to have two investigations at the same time?

21

A

Correct.

22

Q

And as you say, the proper police practice in

23

that situation would be for one police force to

24

take the lead in investigating that suspect?

25

A

Yes, and the other force would support them as
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1
2

best they could.
Q

3

Would support them where they're asked by the
lead force for assistance?

4

A

Yes.

5

Q

Deputy Chief Greer, Mr. Gratl asked you about

6

that memo that was written by Russ Mitchell; do

7

you recall that?

8

A

Yes.

9

Q

And the discussion was around Russ Mitchell's

10

point that certainly sex workers deserve as much

11

police resources as other citizens but the

12

question was whether they deserve more; do you

13

recall that?

14

A

Yes, I remember the passage.

15

Q

I want to put this proposition to you and see if

16

you agree.

Sex trade workers engage in practices

17

like getting into cars with strangers that are

18

extremely dangerous because they experience much

19

more violence than is the case with other

20

citizens they do need and do receive more

21

policing resources than other citizens but

22

because the practices are so dangerous and

23

because police resources are constrained the

24

police will never be able on their own to reduce

25

the level of violence to the level common in more
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1

mainstream communities; is that fair?

2

A

I think that's fair.

3

Q

You noted when you were with the VPD that the

4

force tried a number of methods to increase

5

protection to sex workers including installing

6

CCTV cameras?

7

A

No.

We never installed the CCTVs.

I was

8

attempting that initiative but it didn't receive

9

a lot of public support from parts so we stopped

10
11

it.
Q

Thank you.

I skipped over some words in my

12

question.

You tried to involve CCTV cameras but

13

the community would not allow that?

14

A

There was not enough support to take it further.

15

Q

Is it fair to say that as long as sex workers are

16

choosing to get into cars with strangers they

17

will remain very vulnerable to violence?

18

A

19 MR. DICKSON:

Yes.
The last topic just quickly, Mr. Commissioner,

20

is Constable Dickson's testimony regarding

21

allegations he brought of sex workers being

22

tortured and then bringing that to police.

23

Commissioner, that testimony raises a number of

24

issues that the VPD will have to call additional

25

evidence to address and we will need and we ask
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1

for that opportunity.

2 THE COMMISSIONER:
3 MR. DICKSON:
4

All right.

Thank you, Mr. Commissioner.

Those are my

questions.

5 THE COMMISSIONER:

I want to thank each and every one of you

6

for coming here and giving your evidence.

7

need your evidence, we need to know where we're

8

going and what happened, so I sincerely thank you

9

all for coming here.

10 MR. VERTLIEB:

We

Just to conclude today and obviously going

11

forward, we will return on the 2nd of April with

12

the witnesses that you outlined.

13

I've been in contact with Mr. Doust's office

14

to see if there's a possibility of doing that

15

part of the inquiry when we return on the 10th of

16

April because the 9th is still Easter Monday and

17

the holiday.

18

but I wanted to mention that to you.

19

course Mr. Ward's family members on the 16th for

20

as many days as they need and we'll work through

21

whatever convenience those family members need to

22

have accommodated.

23 THE COMMISSIONER:

I don't know if we can arrange that
Then of

I would just ask dealing with the issue

24

relating to the crown's stay of proceedings that

25

ample notice be given to counsel because I expect
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1

that will be a particularly contentious piece of

2

evidence.

3 MR. VERTLIEB:

We will let counsel know as soon as we know.

I

4

want to thank you.

5

for his kind offer to assist new counsel and that

6

will be conveyed.

7

accommodate.

8 MR. ROBERTS:
9

I wanted to thank Mr. Roberts

I believe that is all we can

I see Mr. Roberts is at the podium.

Mr. Commissioner, I wonder if sometime soon it
could be indicated when the other panel will be

10

back so I can schedule my own time.

11

particularly interested in the panel headed by

12

Deputy Chief McGuinness all the way down to

13

Sergeant Field.

14

significant.

15 MR. VERTLIEB:
16

We know that.

I'm

Sergeant Field is pretty

We will be in the process of

scheduling and will let people know that.

17 THE COMMISSIONER:
18 THE REGISTRAR:

We'll adjourn.

This hearing is now adjourned until Monday

19

April 2, at 9:00 a.m.

20

(PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 12:15 P.M.)

21
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